1957

Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Trustees, Inc et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Preliminary Statement

This appeal is from a declaratory judgment in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff entered in the District Court, Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, Utah on October 24, 1957 (R. 88-89) upon written findings of fact and conclusions of law (R. 81-87).

The action was commenced September 28, 1955 by the filing of the complaint with the clerk of the District Court, Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, Utah (R. 1-16).

The plaintiff-appellant is Union Pacific Railroad Company, a Utah railroad corporation. The defendants-respondents are Trustees, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Jean C. Cranmer, Thomas D. Braden and Edward G. Knowles, individuals, who were at all times pertinent to

this case owners of shares of stock of Union Pacific Railroad Company.

The complaint set forth a cause of action under and pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment statutes of the State of Utah, Section 78-33-1 *et seq.*; Utah Code Anno., 1953 (R. 1-16). The action was commenced to clarify the corporate power of the appellant to grant and contribute a sum to Union Pacific Railroad Foundation and to make contributions and donations for the public welfare, or for charitable, scientific, religious or educational purposes. The question at issue arose by reason of claims and demands of the respondents denying such power (R. 24, 43-46). The complaint asserted that such donations or contributions of corporate funds were within the implied powers of the appellant corporation, and lawful and proper in every respect, and in addition were specifically authorized under Section 16-2-14(8) Utah Code Anno. (1955 Pk. Supp.) (R. 4). The answer denied that the donation or contribution of corporate funds described in the complaint was within the implied or statutory powers of the appellant corporation and claimed such action to be *ultra vires* and void (R. 19).

The Court below based its determination that the defendants-respondents were entitled to the declaratory judgment herein appealed from, upon the following conclusions of law (R. 85-87):

1. The Board of Directors of the appellant in making a contribution to Union Pacific Railroad Foundation acted beyond the express or implied powers of the corporation, and the making of contributions for charitable, scientific, religious or educational purposes would similarly be beyond the express or implied powers of the corporation.

2. The statutory grant of corporate power to engage in philanthropy embodied in Section 16-2-14 (8) Utah Code Anno. (1955 Pk. Supp.) does not apply to the appellant so as to authorize the contribution to Union Pacific Railroad Foundation or similar charitable contributions.

3. The addition of the statutory power to donate to the powers of the appellant corporation would constitute a fundamental change in the shareholders' contracts embodied in the appellant's Articles of Association.

4. The application to the appellant of the statutory power to donate would constitute an impairment of the obligation of the shareholders' contracts in violation of the contracts clauses of both the Federal Constitution and the Constitution of Utah.

5. The application to the appellant of the statutory power to donate would constitute a violation of the due process clauses of both the Federal Constitution and the Constitution of Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was incorporated on July 1, 1897, under an Act providing for the formation of railroad corporations, approved January 22, 1897 as supplemented and amended (R. 82). It was formed for the purpose of operating and maintaining a railroad, and was vested with the powers necessary for such purpose, as well as all the rights, privileges and franchises of railroad corporations organized under the laws of the State of Utah (R. 26).

The appellant's business is the transportation of freight and passengers by rail and activities incident thereto. The appellant operates approximately 10,000

miles of road, running through thirteen states, employs about 50,000 persons and its net income before Federal Income Taxes for the year 1955 was \$119,527,256 (R. 82).

On May 13, 1955, members of the Board of Directors of the appellant corporation organized the Union Pacific Railroad Foundation as a non-profit corporation under Section 16-6-1 *et seq.*, Utah Code Anno., 1953 (R. 83). The Foundation was organized for the objects and purposes of exclusively engaging in, assisting, contributing to the support of, creating and maintaining exclusively charitable, educational and scientific activities, projects, institutions, organizations and funds of any and every kind. (*Ibid.*) Only individuals who are directors of the appellant corporation (or a subsidiary or affiliate) are eligible to become members of the Foundation (R. 34). In the event that any member should cease to be a director his membership in the Foundation ceases forthwith (R. 35). The management of the affairs of the Foundation is vested in a Board of Trustees of whom a majority must at all times be members of the Foundation (R. 36). The Foundation was organized by the appellant as a medium through which its philanthropic activities would be conducted (R. 83), and it is at all times subject to the control of those directors of the appellant who have been elected to the Board of Trustees by their fellow directors (R. 64). This right in the membership to elect the Board of Trustees further subjects the Foundation to the control of the appellant, who may exercise additional control through its power to disburse funds to the Foundation (R. 64-65).

The advantages, of giving through a company-sponsored foundation rather than directly, sought by the Board of Directors of the appellant corporation in establishing the Union Pacific Railroad Foundation as

a medium for its philanthropy, included improved administration of a program of giving and the permitted reasonable accumulation of funds in years of high profit which might be drawn upon in years of low profit, thus levelling out fluctuation in giving and facilitating a systematic and deliberate planning of grants (R. 83, Sinclair Dep. p. 29).

On May 26, 1955, the appellant's Directors adopted a resolution authorizing a contribution of \$5,000 to the Union Pacific Railroad Foundation (R. 83). On June 30, 1955, the Foundation's Board of Trustees adopted a resolution authorizing a contribution of \$4,000 to Brigham Young University, to be applied one-half to the University's building program and one-half to current income needs (R. 83). Brigham Young University is a Utah non-profit corporation, control of which is vested in the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints. The University is devoted exclusively to educational and religious purposes (R. 24).

The history of the eleemosynary activities of the appellant corporation covers a span of more than fifty years. Mr. E. Roland Harriman, Chairman of the appellant's Board of Directors and Chairman of the American National Red Cross under appointment by the President of the United States, testified at the trial that charitable giving by the appellant can be traced to as early as 1906 (R. 56). At the time of the San Francisco earthquake, the appellant shipped into the stricken area some 1,600 carloads of food and building materials free of charge. In addition to turning over stores and supplies to relief authorities, the appellant donated the cash sum of \$200,000 for general relief work and moved some 224,000 passengers out of the stricken area free of charge (*Ibid.*).

There has been a marked upward trend in corporate philanthropy in the United States since 1940* (Watson Dep. p. 10). In 1940, donations for charitable purposes by corporations were in the neighborhood of \$40 million. Since that year corporate giving has continued to rise, the Statistics of Income published by the Federal Government indicating aggregate contributions for the year 1951 to be \$341 million and estimates of the current total to be above \$500 million annually (*Ibid.*). On the average, corporations throughout the United States donate between .8 and .9 of 1% of their net income before taxes to charity (*Id.* at p. 14).

This growth in corporate donations since 1940 was occasioned in the first instance by the needs of charities during World War II and thereafter by the continued expansion of the activities and needs of health and welfare organizations (R. 55). At the trial Mr. Harriman testified that currently some 30 to 40 percent of the income of the National Red Cross and similar organizations as well as the Community Chest are derived from corporations (*Ibid.*). In the case of the National Red Cross, the remaining percentage of the \$85 million received during the year 1955 came from individuals, employee groups, foundations, women's groups, church groups and the like (Sinclair Dep. p. 23). The recipients of corporate philanthropy include educational institutions, primarily colleges and universities, community institutions, such

* For a general discussion of the background, legal aspects and growth of corporate giving in the United States, see: Andrews, *Corporation Giving*, pp. 229-244 (Russell Sage Foundation, 1952); Bell, *Corporation Support of Education*, 38 ABAJ 119 (1952); Bleicken, *Corporate Contributions to Charities*, 38 ABAJ 999 (1952); and de Capriles and Garrett, *Corporate Support to Education*, 38 ABAJ 209 (1952).

as united funds and community chests, and local institutions, such as hospitals, cultural and civic groups (Watson Dep. pp. 18-19; See also, Ex. 3 to Sinclair Dep. p. 7).

The growth in recent years of corporate aid to education has been in response to the needs occasioned by the financial crisis facing private higher education in the United States (Lincoln Dep., p. 7; Ex. 4 to Sinclair Dep., pp. 3-6). The critical needs of American colleges and universities are due to several factors, including the impact of taxation upon funds of individuals available for donations and endowments, continued increases in student enrollment, disparity between tuition and cost per student, decline of relative importance of endowment income and continued increases in operating expenses and capital expenditures (Ex. 4 to Sinclair Dep., pp. 3-6 and Ex. 1 to Lincoln Dep., pp. 4-7; see also, Mullendore Dep., p. 5). Corporate giving is one of the principal sources of adequate support available to private higher education (Ex. 1 to Lincoln Dep., pp. 8-11). Large private gifts and contributions to endowment have become, because of high taxes, almost non-existent and the same is true of the private foundation. Funds from alumni and friends are pitifully inadequate and financial support from government, the remaining source, constitutes a threat to the independence of the beneficiary institutions (*Ibid.*).

The purpose of the appellant corporation in organizing the Union Pacific Railroad Foundation as a medium through which its philanthropic activities would be conducted (R. 83) was to initiate a program under which the corporation, through its Board of Directors in the exercise of their collective prudent business judgment,

would (i) assume its reasonable share of the cost of preserving a favorable economic and social environment, within the framework of the free enterprise system, and in which the corporation may continue to prosper to its benefit and the ultimate benefit of its shareholders and, (ii) assume its reasonable and rightful share of the social responsibilities of both individual and corporate citizens of the community to preserve and maintain our economic and social order (R. 60-61, Mullendore Dep., pp. 6-8 and Sinclair Dep., pp. 8-10).

At the trial Mr. Harriman expressed his opinion as Chairman of the Board of the appellant, as to the reasonable distribution of corporate funds for the above purposes in the following language:

Well, I think it is good business to do so; in the long run, beneficial to our stockholders. The very continuance of our public service corporation depends upon the growth of our communities that we serve, and the healthy environment in which those communities operate.

If the communities were not there, we certainly would not be able to serve them, and in a like manner, if they are not in a good condition, mentally, morally and physically, they would not be as good customers. We really believe the existence of this atmosphere of healthy environment I speak of, is as much of a must in the maintenance of it by our company as the maintenance of our physical property, using reasonable judgment throughout.

Secondly, we think we can increase and maintain the goodwill in those communities. As I said, I think that the public has come to expect that we will support worthwhile local and national causes, and, in effect, we agree with this viewpoint (R. 60-61).

Another Director of the appellant corporation, John S. Sinclair* testified as follows with respect to the basis for his belief that the corporation should expand its support of educational and welfare institutions:

Now, as we know, each individual has certain responsibilities toward his fellowmen, some imposed by law, others imposed by his own conscience or by the influence of public or community opinion. A corporation is not much different in these respects. . . . it is given a corporate personality by law and is treated as a legal entity, and the general public thinks of it as something separate and apart from its shareholders and its employees and its management, which means that the corporation has a good name, or a bad or uncertain name in the public eye or the community estimation, it incurs either goodwill or illwill in communities where it operates and which it serves.

The studies that we have issued, which have been referred to, indicate that the public has come to expect that corporations shall act like responsible human members of society; that is, that they will contribute to worthy causes to strengthen and stabilize our economic and social structure.

Now, this does not mean that the people expect corporations to dissipate the shareholders' assets by unwise or foolish largesse. Such activity, of

* Mr. Sinclair is President of the National Industrial Conference Board, a research and educational institution for the study of the economic and administrative problems of American business. It assembles and disseminates to industry, labor, government, educators and the public facts on business organization and operation and on the national economy (Ex. 6 to Watson Dep.). The National Industrial Conference Board numbers among its membership over 3,000 of the foremost American corporations and educational and other institutions, including Anaconda Copper Mining Company, Kennecott Copper Corporation, the Utah Construction Company, Utah Power and Light Company and the Utah State Agricultural College (*Id.*, See, list following p. 107).

course, would bring prompt intervention by the courts at the instance of complaining shareholders. What I really mean is that we have come to expect corporations to behave in the field of social consciousness as individuals would behave—that is, with a prudent eye to its financial capacity and selectivity as to the objects of its generosity. I do not mean by this that corporations should give only where a measurable or direct tangible benefit is purchased with the so-called donation. The community does not expect that individuals shall give on any such basis, and corporations should not be so limited.

In my view, it is not good business to disappoint the public expectation I have described. Corporate donations create good will in the community. In many instances, assistance to private institutions will help reduce the burden on public institutions, and thus on the public purse and the extent of taxation for that purpose.

For example, I have no doubt that support for the Boy Scouts will help in a given community to reduce juvenile delinquency, and help to the Red Cross assists in the performance of many quasi-public functions which otherwise would have to be assumed by government. Assistance to private educational institutions of higher learning will help to create a pool of highly-trained and educated persons from which the future management of business corporations must be chosen.

I would not, however, want to base my theory of corporate support of education solely on the direct benefits to corporations from a pool of trained manpower. In my view, assistance to education will result in national benefits to our society as a whole—benefits of an ethical, moral, and spiritual nature—and that is why I favor such support.

Furthermore, I have also believed that if our young people are educated, they will freely choose our system of competitive enterprise over any competing system. The hope of America lies in knowledge, not in ignorance (Sinclair Dep., pp. 8-10).

William C. Mullendore, Chairman of the Board of Southern California Edison Corporation, testified as a Director of the appellant corporation with respect to the obligation of corporations to support educational and charitable institutions, and benefits accruing to them from such support, as follows:

The basis of our policy of making contributions in aid of the work and in support of educational and charitable institutions is, of course, first of all, as a citizen of the community dependent upon the goodwill of the customers. In considering the goodwill as an important part of our assets, we find a real need for playing our part in the community. That relates particularly to charitable contributions.

In educational matters, we believe that one of the primary duties of the Board of Directors and management of a corporation is to preserve the institution. It is just as much our duty to help preserve the basic principles upon which our public service enterprise depends for its continued existence within the framework of a free enterprise system, as it is to preserve the physical equipment against the physical elements, normal wear and tear and depreciation.

We recognize that in a free society the rights of the citizen are dependent upon the discharge of his obligations, and that if the free citizens fail to help preserve their free institutions through the education and training and passing on of our tradi-

tions of a free country to the youth, those institutions would be undermined by the inadequacy and lack of understanding and ignorance of the citizens.

It is therefore on that general line of reasoning that we feel that it is just as much the obligation of the corporate management to use some of its resources in helping to educate the youth of a country and of our community in the principles and traditions of our free institutions, as it is to use our resources in the construction and maintenance of our physical equipment.

Coincidentally, we have included in our regular operating expenses the provision for those donations, as necessarily included a much larger, of course, budget for maintenance of our physical equipment. In that very real sense we believe that it is protecting the interest of the stockholder in both the principal of his investment and his earnings through dividends (Mullendore Dep., pp. 6-8).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. The donation in question constitutes a proper exercise of a valid statutory corporate power embodied in Section 16-2-14(8) Utah Code Anno.

- a. The statutory power to make donations applies to pre-existing corporations.
- b. The statutory power to make donations does not constitute a fundamental alteration of the shareholders' contract embodied in appellants' corporate charter.
- c. Even if the statutory addition of a corporate power to make donations were a fundamental change in the shareholders' contract, such change would not violate the Constitutional prohibitions against impairment of contracts.

(1) Utah does not follow the "immutable contract" theory

(2) Even if Utah followed the “immutable contract” theory the statute authorizing donations is valid under the state’s reserved power over corporate charters or under the state’s police power.

d. The statutory addition of a power to make donations does not infringe the due process requirements of the Utah and Federal Constitutions.

II. The donation in question constitutes a proper exercise of an implied power possessed by Utah corporations without regard to Section 16-2-14(8) Utah Code Anno.

ARGUMENT

I

The contribution represents a valid exercise by the appellant corporation of a statutory power granted to it by Section 16-2-14(8) Utah Code Anno.

(a) The statutory power to donate is applicable to and was exercised by the appellant, a pre-existing corporation.

On May 10, 1955 Utah joined the ranks of thirty-eight sister states,¹ the District of Columbia and the Territory

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