1958

## Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Trustees, Inc et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

It will be the purpose of Respondents hereinafter to parallel, insofar as feasible, the organization of the Brief of Appellant.

### I

*Section 16-2-14(8) Utah Code Annotated (1953) did not invest Appellant corporation with power to make the subject contribution.*

a. *The statutory power to donate is not applicable to Appellant, a pre-existing corporation.*

Appellant's discussion under I(a) at pages 13-21 of its Brief involves and must necessarily involve the proposition that Section 16-2-14(8) was intended to have and does have and could constitutionally have restrospective application to Appellant corporation which was formed long prior to such 1955 enactment.

Appellant points out (Appl. Br. 13) that in addition to Utah thirty-eight states, the District of Columbia and Hawaii have enacted statutes granting to corporations power to engage in philanthropy. Appellant also points out that in seventeen of these states the power was granted without limitation as to amount. It would thus appear that the majority of these states passing such enactments have prescribed limitations and have not agreed with the "blank check" recommendation of the American Bar Association committee to which Appellant refers.

Appellant also contends (Appl. Br. 42-50) that the Utah statutory enactment was but a legislative recognition of an inherent and implied corporate power. If such be the case, it is strange that these many states have felt legislation to be necessary and if such be the case, then it would seem to follow that the twenty-three instances where the statutes prescribe limitations should be said to be enactments in restriction of otherwise existing corporate power and not acknowledgments thereof.

The answer to these absurdities is that no such implied corporate power exists.

Although there are these numerous states where enactments have been passed to "legalize the practice" of corporate giving, as the American Bar Association committee report states, Appellant points to only one state, New Jersey, where the power was held to apply retrospectively to a pre-existing corporation and in the decision in that case, which will hereinafter be discussed at some length, the court held that under the law of New Jersey the power existed independently of the statute.

Completely understandable is the justification for a broad and unlimited power to donate when, but only when, a statute is given prospective application for under such circumstances it lies within the power of the incorporators and stockholders to prescribe in their articles of incorporation those limitations and restrictions which they deem to be advisable and proper in their stockholder-corporation and stockholder *inter se* contract.

The language of the Section 16-2-14(8) specifying corporate power

"To make donations for the public welfare or for charitable, scientific, religious or educational purposes"

is wholly lacking in any declaration that it is to be applied to pre-existing corporations just as its broad language is silent and expresses no limitation whatsoever which would preclude directors from making donations of

10 per cent or 50 per cent or any other per cent of the corporate income or assets.

Appellant states (Appl. Br. 15) that "every exercise of the donative power is subject to the rule of 'reasonable business judgment.'" What is the standard by which "business judgment" is to be measured? If it is to have any meaning whatsoever it must mean that any action taken by the corporation must have a reasonable and reasonably identifiable relation to the furtherance and accomplishment of the objects and purposes for which the corporation was formed. It has been the application of this very standard of "reasonable business judgment" which has been the basis for the recognition of the rule that

"A gift of its property by a corporation not created for charitable purposes is in violation of the rights of its stockholders and is ultra vires however worthy of encouragement or aid the object of the gift may be." Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations Perm. Ed. Section 2939, p. 667.

If it be said that what Appellant refers to as the "donative power" has become, as a result of the enactment of Section 16-2-14(8), one of the corporate objects and purposes, then wherein would be found the limitation upon an enthusiastic sponsoring of that newly added corporate object of charity and general (not stockholder) welfare? If as Appellant contends that statutory enactment can convert a business corporation into a partly business and partly eleemosynary corporation, and if such a conversion does not constitute a fundamental change in the

corporate objects and purposes as Appellant appears to contend, then what could constitute a fundamental change.

Appellant points out (Appl. Br. 16-18) that Appellant corporation was originally incorporated under the Act of January 22, 1897 (L. 1897, Ch. 1, p. 13) and refers to an enactment (L. 1901, Ch. 26) revising the Utah statutes as to railroad corporations and to Sections 434 and 434x of the Compiled Laws of Utah 1907 which have, in substance, been carried forward into Sections 56-1-5 and 56-1-1 of Utah Code Annotated, 1953. In reference to these laws Appellant states

“The foregoing provisions of the Utah railroad law, were of course in force in 1945 when the appellant’s corporate life was extended by amendment to its articles of association and they thus form a part of the contract between the appellant and its stockholders embodied in such articles.”

Respondents fully agree with the premise that statutes in force at the time of an extension of corporate existence become a part of the corporation-stockholder contract at that time. It appears to be Appellant’s contention that because the Act (L. 1907, Ch. 93) declared an express legislative intent to give to that particular enactment retrospective application and because that specific railroad corporation enactment has been carried forward into present law, the legislative intent so there expressed in 1907 is to be carried over as constituting an expression of legislative intent in respect to a 1955 enactment modifying the general corporation laws. If there could be, and Respondents submit that there cannot be, any merit in



such a contention then it would appear that Appellant must contend that Section 16-2-14(8) should be construed as having a retrospective effect in relation to railroad corporations because of the provision in the said railroad corporation act although there is no justification whatever for giving any such a retrospective effect to that section as to corporations other than railroad corporations.

Our Utah Legislature has left no room for doubt as to the manner in which statutes are to be construed in relation to prospective or retrospective application. Section 68-3-3 U.C.A., 1953, definitively and concisely states,

“No part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared.”

The same language is found in the Utah Code Annotated, 1943, Section 88-2-3; and in the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, Section 88-2-3; and in the Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, Section 5840; and in the Compiled Laws of Utah, 1907, Section 2490; and in the Revised Statutes of Utah 1898, Section 2490.

The case of *Petersen v. State Tax Commission*, 106 Utah 337, 148 P. 2d 340 (1944) involved a question of whether a statute amending a section of the 1943 Utah Code Annotated was to be applied retroactively. The appellant therein sought, through reference to another existing section of the same title of the Code, to attribute to the Legislature an intention to give retrospective application to the amendment in question — just as in the case at bar Appellant seeks to attribute such an intention to the Legislature by reason of other existing statu-

tory provisions. This Court rejected the contention and, after quoting our Utah Code provision that:

“No part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared”

stated (106 Utah 339-341, 148 P. 2d 341-342):

“That this court is committed to the general rule can not be questioned, for in the case of *Mercur Gold Mining & Milling Co. v. Spry*, County Collector, 16 Utah 222, 52 P. 382, 384, Judge Miner said:

‘Constitutions, as well as statutes, should operate prospectively only, unless the words employed show a clear intention that they should have a retroactive effect. This rule of construction should always be adhered to, unless there be something on the face of the statute putting it beyond doubt that the legislature meant it to operate retrospectively, *Cooley, Const. Lim.*, p. 73; *Suth. St. Const.*, §§ 463-465.’

\* \* \* \* \*

“Had the legislature intended Sec. 80-12-7, Laws of Utah 1943, to have a retroactive effect, it is reasonable to suppose they would have made such a declaration in the amendment. The force of this is more apparent in view of the holding by this court in the case above cited, and by reason of Sec. 88-2-3, U.C.A. 1943. In view of the decision of this court heretofore mentioned and the existence of the statute cited above, both of which were in existence when this enactment was passed by the legislature, and the failure of that body to expressly declare in said enactment that it should have a retroactive application, can it be said without doubt and conjecture what the legislature intended respecting the retroactive effect of the amendment in question?

“We are forced to the conclusion that the intention of the legislature is doubtful and that Judge Miner’s pronouncement of the law, above mentioned, is applicable to the situation before us. With this in mind and the positive wording of Sec. 88-2-3, U.C.A. 1943, the general rule of construction of statutes must apply and we come to the conclusion that Sec. 80-12-7, Laws of Utah 1943, is not retroactive, but was intended by the legislature to be effective on and after the 11th day of May, 1943, and only those estates whose creators die on and after said date are entitled to the deduction provided therein.”

In *McCarrey v. Utah State Teachers Retirement Board et al*, 177 P. 2d 725, 726; 111 Utah 251, 253-254 (1947), this Court stated:

“Ordinarily legislative enactments are intended to operate prospectively and not retrospectively. As said in 50 Am. Jr. 494, Statutes, Section 478: ‘The question whether a statute operates retrospectively, or prospectively only, is one of legislative intent. In determining such intent, the courts have evolved a strict rule of construction against a retrospective operation, and indulge in the presumption that the legislature intended statutes, or amendments thereof, enacted by it to operate prospectively only, and not retroactively. Indeed, the general rule is that they are to be so construed, where they are susceptible of such interpretation and the intention of the legislature can be satisfied thereby, where such interpretation does not produce results which the legislature may be presumed not to have intended, and where the intention of the legislature to make the statute retroactive is not stated in express terms, or clearly, explicitly, positively, unequivocally, unmistakably, and unambiguously shown by neces-

sary implication or terms which permit no other meaning to be annexed to them, preclude all question in regard thereto, and leave no reasonable doubt thereof. Ordinarily, an intention to give a statute a retroactive operation will not be inferred. If it is doubtful whether the statute or amendment was intended to operate retrospectively, the doubt would be resolved against such operation. \* \* \* ”

Appellant's argument as to the applicability of the 1955 enactment to the Union Pacific Railroad Company does violence to the rule of construction which this Court has announced.

The very doubts as to the constitutionality of any attempt to apply the statute retroactively (which doubts were in part the basis of this lawsuit) further argue against attributing to the legislature an intention that the enactment have retrospective application.

- b. *The application to Appellant corporation of the statutory power to donate would constitute a fundamental change in the shareholders' contract embodied in Appellant's charter. Thus, Constitutional objections (U. S. Const., Art. I, Sec. 10, Cl. 1; Utah Const., Art. I, Sec. 18) preclude application of the statute to Appellant, a pre-existing corporation.*

The tri-partite nature of the contract embodied in a corporate charter ([1] between state and corporation, [2] between corporation and its shareholders, and [3] between shareholders *inter se*) and the historical background of Section 1 of Article XII of the Utah Constitu-

tion, relating to the rights thereunder reserved to the legislature to alter, amend or repeal laws relating to corporations, were discussed at length by this Court in *Garey v. St. Joe Mining Co.*, 32 Utah 497, 91 P. 367 (1907).

That case is the only case which has decided the question of the scope of the reserved power of the legislature under Article XII of the Utah Constitution, although several later Utah cases made reference to such reserved power without having to base decision thereupon. The decision in each such later case was based upon the fact that the statute involved was in effect when the corporate charter was granted, or extended, and that such statute therefore constituted a part of the corporation-stockholder contract.

The decision in the *Garey* case (the thoroughness of the consideration of which is amply demonstrated in the decision on appeal written by Justice Straup and the decision on rehearing written by Justice Frick) clearly and directly sets out that the reserved power of the Utah legislature "is not without limit" (32 Utah 523, 91 P. 378) and that the Court's holding "is supported by the great weight of authority and is founded upon well established legal principles." (32 Utah 523, 91 P. 378.) The Utah law in effect in 1897, when *St. Joe Mining Co.*, the company involved in the *Garey* case, was incorporated, prohibited amendments in corporate articles to make non-assessable stock assessable "without the consent of all the stockholders in writing." Subsequently, in 1903 (L. 1903, Ch. 94, p. 80) the Utah Legislature changed that law

to permit such an amendment by a vote of "at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock," and in 1905 (L. 1905, Ch. 30, p. 29) the Legislature changed the required vote to "a majority of the outstanding stock." It can hardly be doubted that the Legislature in making these changes had concluded that broad public interest warranted modification of the Utah corporation laws by liberalizing the right of charter amendment. Unfounded is Appellant's assertion (Appl. Br. 35) that said statutory enactments "did not purport to be for the benefit of the public." It was urged in the *Garey* case that there was a public interest in "having the resources of the state developed" and "in promulgating wholesome laws" and, toward those ends, of permitting assessments in view of protection which might thereby be afforded to the corporate enterprise and to stockholders and creditors — considerations which, among others, doubtless induced the legislatures to adopt the liberalizing amendments. However, in holding that the amendments did not apply to pre-existing corporations, the Court, in its decision on rehearing, said *inter alia*:

"We held that the Legislature, under the reservation, may alter or amend the contract with reference to the state and in which it is interested, but that it may not make a material or fundamental change of the contract which alone concerns the corporation and its members." (32 Utah 523, 91 P. 378)

\* \* \*

"If any one thing pertinent to the question under consideration is well settled by the authorities, it is that the power which may be exercised under the reservation is not without limit, and that there

is a strong tendency in the decisions to limit the power of the Legislature to amend the charter under the reservation." (32 Utah 523, 91 P. 378)

\* \* \*

"It is of the utmost importance in this connection to keep in mind the fact that this limitation is not merely to prevent the confiscation of property, or to affect or destroy vested rights without due process of law (as these matters are controlled by other constitutional provisions), but the limitation is expressly based upon the narrower ground, namely, the impairment of contractual rights and obligations." (32 Utah 524, 91 P. 379)

Appellant asserts (Appl. Br. 24) that investing a corporation with power to use corporate income and assets "to make donations for the public welfare or for charitable, scientific, religious or for educational purposes" is not a fundamental change in the corporate charter. Appellant cites no supporting authority for this assertion. It is indeed strange that the Utah Legislature (and 40 other legislatures) would have passed a special enactment to add that give-away power to the statutory enumeration of permissible exercises of corporate power if there was not considered to be some basic and fundamental alteration through its addition. An analogous observation is made in *Weede v. Emma Copper Co.*, 58 Utah 524 at 531, 200 P. 517 at 520 (1921).

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